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E20                                                   Notes for researchers  
 

Blaich & Duisky 
  

Version 4 ς March 2018 

www.christinaanddonaldmclean.com 
 

 
This is one of a series of research notes which should be read in conjunction with each other.  Look at ΨC10 - Setting the 
SceneΩ in Small Print on the left of the homepage which has a summary of each set of notes - so this is a good overview 
of how we have been researching our McLeans.  Importantly, C10 also provides background information and explains 
concepts which arise throughout our research. 
 
Our other notes which are of particular relevance to these notes on Blaich & Duisky are:- 
        E40   ΨTour guide for Fort William, Blaich & 5ǳƛǎƪȅΩ: 

E25  ΨArdgour ς the district, the estate, the house & Sallachan farmΩ   
E30  ΨKilmallie & LochaberΩ  
E45  ΨOther places of our McLeans in ScotlandΩ 
F35  ΨMaclean lairds of BlaichΩ 
G30  Ψ5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƘƛƭŘƘƻƻŘΩ 
G35  Ψ5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƛƴƛǘƛŀƭ ǿƻǊƪƛƴƎ ȅŜŀǊǎΩ 
G40  Ψ5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƻƴǘƛƴǳƛƴƎ ǿƻǊƪƛƴƎ ȅŜŀǊǎ ς ǿƛǘƘ ŀ ƎǊƻǿƛƴƎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩ 
.. 

 
..ooOOoo.. 

 

Summary 
purpose & highlights 

 
Donald McLean was born in 1779 in Blaich and he leased Duisky Estate.  His wife, Christina McPhee, and their large family, 
migrated to South Australia in 1837. 
 
Blaich is not a village, but rather, it is a string of cottages.  It is on the southern shores of Loch Eil in the district of Ardgour 
which is in the Western Highlands of Scotland.  Duisky is a farm next to Blaich.   This was within the parish of Kilmallie. 
 
In these notes, we have gathered together whatever we have been able to find about these places in the past two 
centuries.   This includes the terrain, population, structures and land use. 
 
Where exactly did Donald, Christina and their family live?   They were living in this area for many decades, but we have 
not been able to identify any specific structures which were directly associated with their lives.  The only documentation 
and physical indications we have are as follows:- 

¶ Blaich:- 

 DonaldΩǎ ōƛǊǘƘ ǇƭŀŎŜΥ  !ƴ ƻƭŘ ǇŀǊƛǎƘ ǊŜŎƻǊŘ has him born in Blaich.  Thus, his parents would have been 
living near that locality at the time and he would have at least spent part of his childhood there.   

 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴΥ  The OPR of Allan, the first child of Donald and Christina, was born in Blaich and the 
birth records of most of their children were designated as Blaich [research:  Check where each of them 
were born].  Thus, the family would have been living in Blaich, or nearby, from at least 1811 when Allan 
was born, until they migrated in 1837.  

 Which cottage?:   Maps by XXX in 18xx and Strachan in 1858 show xxxx structures in Blaich, but we have 
no indications of which particular cottage(s) our McLeans were living in. 

¶ Duisky:- 

 Leasing:  It is known, from the BRB, that Donald was leasing Duisky but we have not found any 
substantiating documents.  He was leasing it prior to migrating and we assume this was for a long time 

http://www.christinaanddonaldmclean.com/
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before that ς perhaps most of his working life from the early 1800s.  And maybe his father or other close 
relatives were on this property before Donald - but we have not yet sighted anything which supports 
intergenerational connections with Duisky.  

 Housing:  Donald built a house at Duisky.  It was a substantial house and the family lived in it for quite 
some time.  We know this because even 17 years after the family had left, this house was still being 
ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ aŎ[ŜŀƴΩǎ ŘǿŜƭƭƛƴƎ ƘƻǳǎŜ (Ardgour papers, p58). 

 Which cottage?:  They might have been in this house for all the time that they were in Duisky, or they 
might have been in another before Donald built his dwelling house.  In the 1800s, the farm only had a 
few houses and in 2017 there are some ruined houses and there are still three houses being used 
(Glenview), ōǳǘ ǿŜ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ƪƴƻǿ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƻƴŜ ǿŀǎ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎΦ     

¶ Both:- 

 Proximity:  .ƭŀƛŎƘ ŀƴŘ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ǿŜǊŜ ŀŘƧŀŎŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǎƻΣ ŘŜǇŜƴŘƛƴƎ ƻƴ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƘƻǳǎŜ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǿŜǊŜ 
living in, they could have been right next to the other location, or several kilometres away.  The point 
farthest west in Duisky was xxxx kilometres (xxx miles) from the point in the extreme east in Blaich. 

 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƘƛƭŘƘƻƻŘΥ  Lǘ ƛǎ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ ǿŀǎ ƛƴ .ƭŀƛŎƘ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ŎƘƛƭŘƘƻƻŘ ŀƴŘ ƭŀǘŜǊ ƳƻǾŜŘ ǘo Duisky. 

 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴΥ  Lǘ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ǇƻǎǎƛōƭŜ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ ǿŀǎ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ƛƴ .ƭŀƛŎƘ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ōƛǊǘƘǎ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ 
children and they moved to Duisky afterwards. 

 Recording:  As the two locations are so close, and Blaich is a residential area whereas Duisky is a farm, 
it is possible, that when a birth was being recorded by the parish, the place of residence was written as 
Blaich even if the family was living on the farm. 

 Absentee leaseholders:  We know that some leaseholders were not living on the property they were 
leasing.  For example, John Mitchell (Ardgour papers p58) 

 Commuting:  It is possible that the family was living in Blaich and some family members were going to 
work each day to the Duisky farm next door.  However, it is said that Donald had difficulty accessing 
5ǳƛǎƪȅ ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ƘŜ άƭƛǾŜŘ ǎƻƳŜ ƳƛƭŜǎ ŀǿŀȅΣ ōǳǘ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ŀƭƭƻǿŜŘ ǘƻ ǘǊŀǾŜƭ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƭȅ ǘƻ 5ƻǳǎƪƛŜ ŜǎǘŀǘŜΣ ŀƴŘ 
was forced to travel 30 miles to get 21/2 milesέ ό¢ǊŜǾƻǊ aŎ[Ŝŀƴ ǇоύΦ   But note that it is less than 21/2 

miles from anywhere in Blaich to anywhere in Duisky (see above). 
Á It is difficult to envisage for what reason or by what means Donald could have been prevented 

from travelling directly to Duisky.  For example, it could not have been trespassing as there are 
no properties between Duisky and Blaich ς except if he was only leasing North Duisky.  

Á If he was living in Blaich, the 30 mile journey would have entailed crossing Loch Eil then walking 
westward along the other side of the loch and around the end, through Garvan to Duisky.  This 
would have taken two days.   

Á Or, if he was living west of Duisky, perhaps in Garvan or Drumfern, it would have been the same 
journey, in reverse.  But we have no other indications that he ever lived in that area. 
 

..ooOOoo.. 
 

Conversions   
 
The values used in these notes can be converted as follows:-.   

Area Distance Pounds 

1 square mile =                640 acres =  4,856 hectares 1 mile = 1.6 kms 1 = guess 
6.25 squ miles =           4,000 acres =  1,619 hectares 2.5 miles = 4 kms Note that this xxxx 
18.75 squ miles =      12,000 acres =  4,856 hectares 30 miles =   
20 squ miles =           12,800 acres =   5,180 hectares    
156.25 squ miles = 100,000 acres = 40,469 hectares   

 
..ooOOoo.. 
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Blaich 

 

Name 
¶ Ψ.ƭŀƛŎƘΩ ƛǎ Ǉƻǎǎƛōƭȅ DŀŜƭƛŎ ŦƻǊ ΨōƭŀŎƪΩ ς or see Maclean-Bristol. 

¶ Lǘ ƛǎ ǎƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ ǎǇŜƭǘ Ψ.ƭŀȅŎƘΩ ƻǊ Ψ.ƭŀƛŎƘǘΩ (ref:  xxx) 
 

Location (and size) 
¶ Blaich & Duisky are next to each other on the A861 on the southern shores of Loch Eil in the northern part of 

Ardgour.  

¶  

¶ Along the 20 kilometre water front on that side of Loch Eil, there are a string of locations ς Achphubil, Blaich, 
Duisky, Garvan and Drumfern.  SǘǊŀŎƘŀƴΩǎ ƳŀǇ ƛƴdicated that in 1858 there were a total of 105 structures and 
60 crofts on about 18,600 acres.  

 Of these, in Blaich, along 5 kilometres of water front, there were 46 structures and 30 crofts on 3869 
acres (2780 hectares).  This is 44% of all the structures and half the crofts on 21% of the acreage.  So, 
Blaich was the most intensely used of the whole locale and this would indicate that the land (and loch) 
was the most productive of the five estates in that locale. 

 Duisky was 11/ 2 kilometres on the shoreline, 10 structures and 2 crofts on xxxx acres. The contrasting 
utilization might indicate poorer quality soil. 

 Note that the structures would have included farm out-buildings such as barns, well as cottages.  And 
some of these would be unused ς perhaps without a roof.   

¶ The average size of farms in Kilmallie was 6.25 square miles or 1620 hectares (ref: Fraser pxxx) so Blaich, at 2680 
hectares is considerably larger than the average. 
 

Terrain (and physical features) 

¶ The crofts were on a narrow band of farm land only a few hundred yards wide ς fronted by the loch and backed 
by the rugged hills.  

¶ Loch Eil:  The loch was the focus of many activities.  They fished for herring and salmon and also collected kelp. 

¶ Tides:  The flow through The Narrows (also called Annat Narrows) is 5 knots (257.2 cm/s) at spring tides.  Tides 
within the loch are 1-2 knots (Loch Eil Sanitary Survey p56).  

¶ The loch is about 800 m across from Duisky. 

¶ άaǳŎƘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŘ ƛƳƳŜŘƛŀǘŜƭȅ ŀǊƻǳƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎƘƻǊŜǎ ƛǎ ŘŜŎƛŘǳƻǳǎ ǿƻƻŘƭŀƴŘΦ  CǳǊǘƘŜǊ ǳǇ ǘƘŜ ǎƭƻǇŜǎ ƛǎ ŎƻƴƛŦŜǊƻǳǎ 
forest and above is rough grassland.  There are several areas of shore grass/saltmarsh around the loch that is 
ƎǊŀȊŜŘ ōȅ ǎƘŜŜǇέ (Loch Eil Sanitary Survey p64). 

 

Structures (and facilities) 

 

   

Blaich 
 

Duisky 
 

Drumfern 
 

Garvan 
 

Achphubuil 
 

Total 

Census 1841 286 people 
47 households 

62 people 
12 households 

27 people 115 people   

Strachan 
Appendix D 

1858 51 structures 
30 crofts 
3869 acres 
5.5 kms shore 

10 structures 
5 crofts 
5229 acres 
2.1 kms shore 

8 structures 
2 crofts 
1002 acres 
.9 kms shore 

27 structures 
16 crofts 
7136 acres 
3.2 kms shore 

26 structures 
9 crofts 
1362 acres 

1.9 kms shore 

122 structures 
62 crofts 
18,598 acres 
13.6 kms shore 

Canmore 
1st edition of the OS 6-
inch map, Canmore, 
Argyllshire 1875, sheet 
vi 

1875 45 roofed 
3 partly roofed 
11 unroofed 
Total = 59 

structures 

7 roofed 

1 unroofed 

2 enclosures 

Total = 8 

structures 
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RCAHMS 
1974 edition of the OS 
1:10000 map, RCAHMS 
(AKK) 30 September 
1998 

1974 14 roofed 
11 unroofed 

3 roofed ς this 

would have 
been Glenview 

    

Douglas Maclean 1975       

Census 
area 60QT000146 
per Loch Eil Sanitary 
Survey 

2001      193 people 
86.4 km2 
21,350 acres 
(includes 
southern 
side of Loch 
Eil & some 
of western 
side of Loch 
Linnhe 

Robertson 2008       

CEFAS Sewrage 
report 
Appendix H 

2012 45 sheep 18 cattle at 
Gleview, 7 
sheep near 
xxx 

 6 cattle 9 sheep  

Google Earth 2017       

Ardgour papers, p9 1823 27 crofters      

 
Notes about figures derived from {ǘǊŀŎƘŀƴΩǎ map:   

¶ Garvan is combined from separate North Garvan and South Garvan:   

 North = 9 structures, 4 crofts, 3902 acres & .8 kms shore.   

 South = 18 structures, 12 crofts, 3234 acres & 2.4 kms shore. 

¶ Duisky is combined separate North Duisky and South Duisky:   

 North = 7 structures, 4 crofts, 748 acres & 1 km shore line.   

 South = 3 structure, 1 croft, 4481 acres & 1.1 kms of shore line. 

¶ Duisky = 8% structures, 8 crofts, 28% acreage & 15% of shore. 

¶ Blaich = 42% structures, 48% crofts, 21% of acreage & 40% of shore. 
Notes about Census 

¶ Garvan is combined from separate North Garvan and South Garvan: 

 North = 28 people 

 South = 87 people 
 

Not a village  
¶ Blaich cottages were not focused around a village square.  There were strung along the road which ran along the 

shoreline.  They were on the side away from the shore and were set either fronting the road or no more than 
100 metres from it. 

¶ There were no shops or markets, no civic buildings, no community services such as post offices, no taverns and 
no cemetery.   

¶ There was not a large manor house for a presiding laird.   

¶ ¢ƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ŀ ǎŎƘƻƻƭ ŀŎǘǳŀƭƭȅ ŀǘ .ƭŀƛŎƘ ƛǘǎŜƭŦΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ƻƴŜ ŀǘ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ (built in 1879). 

¶ So there were no public facilities or buildings except a church, which only functioned from 1817 to xxxx. (see 
below) 

 

Crofts  
¶ How many:  There were 30 crofts. 

¶ Size:  The Blaich crofts were all roughly the same size.  We do not have details of the individual acreages because 
Strachan only gives the acreage of 3869 for the whole Blaich estate.  A look at his map indicates that about one 
quarter was divided for the crofts along the shoreline, and the larger portion was in the hills.   So, if the 30 crofts 
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occupied 25% of 3869 acres, each croft would average 32 acres.  This is considerably larger than 7 acres which 
were typical of crofts in Kilmallie as reported by Frazer (xxx). 

¶ If we accept that we are correct in our calculations of larger crofts, this indicates that the Blaich soil was not as 
good as elsewhere and thus the croft needed to be larger to sustain a farming family (this does not tally with the 
observation that Blaich was the most productive of the five estates), or it might be because of the different 
crofting system which the 13th Laird had introduced (see next dot point). 

¶ Lƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜΣ in the early 1800s, the 13th laird reformed the crofting system to foster fairer tenancies and 
better use of the land and improved farming practices.  άI had four farms upon the shores of Locheil surveyed and 
sub-divided into allotments, each consisting of some arable, or land easily improved into arable - with each 
allotment the pasture of four cows, their followers, and a certain number of sheep.έ  (Ardgour papers p33).  The 
four farms were probably Blaich and Duisky, with those on each side - Archphubuil and Garvan. 

¶ Families:  There were one or two families on a croft. 

¶ Productivity:  They tried to eek out a living by growing crops of oats and barley and also vegetables such as 
potatoes ς and tending sheep, goats and a few black cattle.  

¶ In this part of the highlands (Kilmallie parish), for black cattle, which were occupying a quarter of the land, the 
numbers remain about the same as when???.   The numbers of sheep decreased by two thirds whereas in other 
parts, they were dramatically increasing as crofts were combined (ref??).    

 

Farm structures 
¶ Out-buildings and barns 

¶ Fencing:  Rock walls and hedges were traditionally used.  Wire fencing was beginning to be used by 1853 (Ardgour 
papers p58) 

 

Cottages 
¶ The cottages were small, with earth floors. 

¶ The Strachan map of 1858, shows 51 structures in Blaich.  These structures would have been farm out-buildings 
(barns etc) and cottages.  Not all of these structures would have been used ς some might have been without a 
roof. 

¶ There were no sheilings (basic shelters) 

¶ Black Croft: 

 56.843769N, 5.216776W 

 Cruck-framed cottage 

 Canmore 86749, NN07NW2, NN023769, OSGB36-NGR, http://canmore.org.uk/site/86749 

 άMid 19th century barn, converted to dwelling 1900-10.  Single storey, 3-bay cottage, random rubble.  
Thick walls with rounded angles, centre entrance double leaf plank door, flanking enlarged windows 
with 4-pane glazing.  Centre renewed brick stack, peinded felt roof with 2 modern roof lights at rear, 
replacing former thatch.  Unoccupied since 1968.  Proposed restoration as a museum 1985έ (RCAHMS). 

 References:  Cranmore NN3904 77093, 203904, 7777093, https://canmore.org.uk/site/105290  

 This is an example of how Christina and Donald and all their children must have lived.  

 Note that this is not the same building as Blaich Cottage ς see below.  [research:  We might have 
confused the references between these two ς so this will need to be sorted out.] 

 
Photo from RCAHMS (permission required) 

¶ Blaich Mhoir House:   

 This is not easily visible from the road.  It seems to be a construction long after the McLeans migrated.  
It was for sale in 2014 for 390,000 pounds and there was also a cottage for 165 pounds.  
(www.rightmove.co.uk/property-for-sale/property-38394536.html) 

 

Tourist accommodation 

https://canmore.org.uk/site/105290
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/property-for-sale/property-38394536.html
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¶ The Blaich hunting lodge, established by the 13th Ardgour, was mentioned in the prospectus for the sale of the 
northern parts of Ardgour in 1858. 

¶ Chalet Blaich 

¶ Chalet Rus Chalet 

¶ Four Oaks Chalet 

¶ http://www.sykescottages.co.uk/cottage/Fort-William-Isle-of-Skye-The-Western-Isles-Blaich/The-Four-Oaks-
Chalet-17209.html 
 

Church (1817 to xxx) 

¶ It was originally a cottage and later converted for use as a church in 1817.  We take it that the year 1817 is when 
it was converted because these numbers were on a plaque (which was later relocated) and it is unlikely that 
anyone would bother to make a plaque of the date of the construction of the cottage rather than the date of its 
modification for use as a church.  

¶ ά!ƭƻƴƎ [ƻŎƘ 9ƛƭΩǎ ƻƴŎŜ ƘŜŀǾƛƭȅ ŎǊƻŦǘŜŘ ǎƻǳǘƘŜǊƴ ǎƘƻǊŜΣ ŀ ƘŀǊƭŜŘ ŀƴŘ ǎƭŀǘŜŘ ŎƻǘǘŀƎŜΣ ŘŀǘŜŘ мумтΣ ŀǘ .ƭŀƛŎƘ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ 
adapted as a matchbox-sized Church of Scotland Mission Hall (latterly shared with the Free Church), its pointed 
door and flanking windows the ƻƴƭȅ ŜȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ Ƙƛƴǘέ (The Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical 
Monuments of Scotland, taken from "Western Seaboard: An Illustrated Architectural Guide", by Mary Miers, 
2008. Published by the Rutland Press http://www.rias.org.uk) 

¶ Reference ς Cranmore ID 108420, NN05258 77089, 56.844299N, 5.194612W,  

¶ Other reference:  NN521 7702, 205210, 777020 

¶ Also:  1558, HS 1692 

¶ http://her.highland.gov.uk/SingleResult.aspx? uid=MHG17318 

¶ άDated 1817, Single storey, 3-bay north facing cottage converted as church.  Harled rubble with boulder footings.  
Centre pointed-headed door with flanking pointed headed windows, all probably altered to present form when 
building became a church.  3 symmetrical windows in real elevation, the outer windows slapped for church. 4-
apun glazing, end stacks, slate roof.   Interior:  simple interior, two thirds as church and small room in eastern 
portion of building.  Ecclesiastical building in use as such.  Unusual conversion.  Church sited in field overlooking 
Loch Eil.  Datestone probably moved to present position just over right of door, from above former flat-headed 
ƭƛƴǘŜƭΦ  Lǘ ǊŜŀŘǎ му ! a[ мтέ (Listed buildings in the Highland Region, reference NN 053 770, 1988) 

¶ άOctober 1996: SCT understands that the church is in joint use by the Church of Scotland and the Free Church.  
Inspection reveals it to be in poor condition and to be deteriorating.  Slates are beginning to come loose and some 
ƅƻƻǊǎ ŀǊŜ ǊƻǘǘŜƴΦ WŀƴǳŀǊy 1998: The local councillor asks whether a Repairs Notice can be served.  January 2000: 
Local planners report that the roof continues to deteriorate with several missing or dislodged slates.  March 2001: 
¢ƘŜ /ƘǳǊŎƘ ƻŦ {ŎƻǘƭŀƴŘ ŎƻƴŬǊƳǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ ƛǎ ƴo longer in use.  May 2003: The church is marketed for sale.  
Missives are subsequently concluded for the sale of the building, but are dependent on the purchaser also being 
able to acquire an area of ground and access to services from a neighbouring property.  February 2005: The 
Church of Scotland reports that these negotiations have broken down and the sale has fallen through.  Sale to 
another party is currently being negotiated.  April 2008: Local planners report that they have met with the new 
owner to discuss proposals for the restoration and conversion into a house.  The proposals include the salvaging 
of the slate and seal wallheads and inner surface of outer walls.  The building is also currently home to an owl.  
Recent images of the property are also forwarded.  May 2010: Local planners report that a scheme has been 
ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜŘ ŦƻǊ ŎƻƴǾŜǊǎƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǊŜǎƛŘŜƴǘƛŀƭΣ ōǳǘ ƛǎ ȅŜǘ ǘƻ ōŜ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŜŘΦ  нф aŀȅ нлмоΥ 9ȄǘŜǊƴŀƭ ƛƴǎǇŜŎǘƛƻƴ ŬƴŘǎ ǘƘŜ 
building is de-roofed and is now a shell.  Wallheads have been temporarily protected and there are some signs of 
excavation nearby.  Full Planning Permission and Listed Building Consent for conversion of the building to a one-
bedroom property, including retrospective removal of the roof were granted Feb 2010 ref: 09/00370/FULLO St 
hфκллотмκ[./[hέ (Cranmore) 

¶ There are no indications of any burial stones near this building.  

¶ It ceased being used as a church before 1996. 

¶ Now, in 2017, it is just some walls and no roof remains of this kirk which is easily seen just 30 yards off the road.   

¶ It is now private property so cannot be entered without permission.   

http://www.sykescottages.co.uk/cottage/Fort-William-Isle-of-Skye-The-Western-Isles-Blaich/The-Four-Oaks-Chalet-17209.html
http://www.sykescottages.co.uk/cottage/Fort-William-Isle-of-Skye-The-Western-Isles-Blaich/The-Four-Oaks-Chalet-17209.html
http://www.rias.org.uk/
http://her.highland.gov.uk/SingleResult.aspx
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                          Highland listed buildings ς 10th June 1988                          Photos by JM Briscoe  ς permission required 

                                                                                                                          [research: Year of photo] 

¶ In 1843, the Antiquarian notes of Charles Fraser-Mackintosh (p218) mentions a Hugh MacLean, crofter of Blaich 
who, was one of the tenants who unsuccessfully petitioned Lochiel, the landlord, to grant a site on his property 
ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŀ ΨCǊŜŜΩ tǊŜǎōȅǘŜǊƛŀƴ /hurch (separating from the Established Church of Scotland).  

 The Antiquarian notes do not make it clear where this free church was to be placed ς it might or, might 
not be this church in Duisky which commenced in 1817, 26 years before. 

 It is interesting that the landlord of Blaich at that time is Locheil because, in effect the Laird of the 
Camerons north of Loch Eil rather than Laird of Ardgour which is south of Loch Eil.  This is a puzzle 
because at that time Alexander, the 13th Laird of Ardgour was active in the role of landlord of Blaich 
(as demonstrated by the Mclean papers).    

 ²Ƙƻ ǿŀǎ ǘƘƛǎ IǳƎƘΚ  IŜ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŀ Ŏƻǳǎƛƴ ǘƻ ΨƻǳǊΩ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ ǿƘƻ ƭŜŦǘ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ŀ ŦŜǿ ȅŜŀǊǎ 
before. 

¶ Other churches:  The nearest churches were near Corran Ferry and at Corpach:- 

 Ardgour Parish Church:  The church is near the Corran Ferry about xxx kilometers away from Blaich ς 
it was built in 1832 and is still in use (see our notes on Ardgour).   

 Corpach Kirk 

¶ NN091770, 56.8451, -5.13166 

¶ This church is at 39 Lady Margaret Drive (turn left off A830) - on top of a short lane up a rise 
on the north side of the A830.   

¶ The kirk was built in 1783 ς after Donald was born, but before Christina was born.   

¶ For more than 100 years, it was the only church in the whole of the Kilmallie parish.  Donald 
ŀƴŘ /ƘǊƛǎǘƛƴŀΩǎ ŎƘƛƭŘǊŜƴ ǿŜǊŜ ŎƘǊƛǎǘŜƴŜŘ ƛƴ YƛƭƳŀƭƭƛŜ ǇŀǊƛǎƘ ŀƴŘ ƛǘ ƛǎ ǇǊƻōŀōƭŜ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜƛǊ 
christening ceremonies were held in this church.  Allan in 1812, Mary (the first) in 1813, Hugh 
(the elder) 1815, John 1816, Mary (second) 1818, Archibald 1821, Ann 1823, Rachel 1825, 
Margaret 1827, Jane 1830, and Hugh (the younger) in 1836.  The christening ceremony would 
possibly take the form of xxxx and was recorded in the old parish register.  

¶ The old cemetery is on the opposite side of the lane but there arŜ ƴƻƴŜ ƻŦ ΨƻǳǊΩ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ 
there. 

 /ƻƳƳŜƴǘΥ  ²Ŝ ŘƻƴΩǘ ƪƴƻǿ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƘǳǊŎƘ ƻǳǊ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ were most closely connected with ς Blaich, 
Ardgour or Corpach?  Where were Donald and Christina married?  Where were their children 
baptized?  Did they participate in other church activities?   Did they play an active part in the setting 
up the Blaich church in 1817 when their family was beginning to form?  Apart from the little Blaich 
church, which was most accessible ς Ardgour or Corpach?  It would have been difficult to get to either 
ς a long walk to Ardgour - or to Corpach which is closer, but would require a boat trip across the loch 
and then a bit of a walk.  
 

Ownership 
¶ From the time that the McLeans took over Ardgour in 1420, Blaich was part of the huge estate of the Maclean 

laird of Ardgour. 

¶ In 1480, Ewen, the 2nd Laird of Ardgour gave Blaich to one of his sons, Hector, who became the 1st Laird of Blaich.  
The Blaich line petered out after less than two centuries and presumedly the ownership reverted back to the 
Laird of Ardgour for a time.  The Blaich line was re-established in 1684 by John Crubach the 8th Laird of Ardgour 
for his son Lachlan Mor ς this is refeǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ΨǎŜŎƻƴŘ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩ ƻŦ .ƭŀƛŎƘ.  This also too petered out after 1758, 
in less than 100 years and again, Ardgour resumed ownership.  
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¶ άIn 1700 the 8th Laird of Ardgour estate and gave the north east portion to his second son and created the Barony 
of Blaich.  This became our branchέ  (BRB p4).  [research: We need to check this assertion about the Barony of 
Blaich in 1700 as we have no sources to support this, other than Douglas MacLean in the BRB]. 

¶ In 1858, Alexander, the 13th Laird of Ardgour, sold the northern parts of Ardgour, including Blaich and Duisky, to 
the Earl of Morton of the Douglas Clan. 

¶ In 1933 the Duisky Estate was owned by an absentee English absentee landlord, the Earl of Morton. (ref: BRB 
p8).   

¶ Transition towards private ownership:  For centuries, lairds controlled large expanses of land which they often 
acquired by the sword ς with few changes over lengthy periods.  Gradually, in the 1900s, parts of these large 
areas have been parceled off for private sale ς individual crofts and cottages were sold to whoever wanted to 
buy them.   

¶ At present, the various properties within Blaich are owned by different private individuals.  

 
Population (how many people?) 

¶ The community must have been no more than several hundred.  This is estimated in several ways as follows:- 

¶ Populations can be estimated by the number of births.  This is not an accurate way of calculating it but gives a 
rough indication.  Currently the birth rate in the UK is, one birth per year for every 77 people (women, men and 
children).  Of course, it would have been much more (say at least twice as much) in rural Scotland almost two 
and a half centuries ago.  A casual look at the parish register indicates that three births per year is a reasonable 
guess.  This projects to a population of about 230.   

¶ In those days, most families were large (an average of 4 children ς ref xxx) 

¶  and there were a number of recurring family names  

¶ So that is at least 42 people and it is reasonable to guess about one hundred or so lived in that vicinity.   

¶ Another way of estimating the population size would be to make a calculation of the 3000 people on 93 farms, 
18 of which are in Ardgour.  This would be 3000/93*18=580.  With a very rough estimate of 580 people in 
Ardgour, and assuming that about a third living around Blaich and Duisky, we would have about 200 in the area.  

¶ This of course is all guesswork but it gives an idea of the scale we should be thinking about - Rather than a large 
population centre with over a thousand people, we are looking at a cluster of about 33 families along a narrow 
three kilometre strip ς a couple of hundred individuals. 

¶ It is good news that it is a relatively small population because we can develop an almost compete list of people 
living there in different periods ς their names, ages and relationships (and, from a census, even type of housing, 
ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƎǊƻǳǇǎ ŀƴŘ ƻŎŎǳǇŀǘƛƻƴǎύΦ  Lƴ ǘƘƛǎ ǿŀȅΣ ǿŜ ƳƛƎƘǘ ōŜ ŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ƛŘŜƴǘƛŦȅ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŎƭƻǎŜ ǊŜƭŀǘƛǾŜǎ      

¶ Census:  

¶ Groome stated that, in 1881, there were 248 people in the registration district of Corran of Ardgour.  If we assume 
ǘƘŀǘ Ψ/ƻǊǊŀƴ ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊΩ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ƛƴ ǎǳŎƘ ƭƻŎŀǘƛƻƴǎ ŀǎ /ƭƻǾǳƭƛƴΣ LƴǾŜǊǎŎŀŘŘƭŜΣ .ƭŀƛŎƘΣ Duisky, 
Archaphubuil, and Garvan, then we would think that there might have been less than 100, maybe as few as 50, 
living on Blaich when Donald was there in 1837.  In fact, according to the following reasoning, there were up to 
300, but no more than that number. 

¶ In 1975, Douglas said that άǘƘŜǊŜ ŀǊŜ ƴƻ ǊŜǎƛŘŜƴǘǎέ at xxxx  (BRB p5) and that southward along the shore [of Loch 
Linnhe?] are a number of deserted crofts, and a few occupiedέ (Douglas MacLean, BRB p5).   

¶ Now:  xxxxx 
 
In 1975, Douglas MacLean stated (BRB p5) that there was no trace of the Duisky home remaining.  A later home, which 
Donald may have occupied, was being used as a cow shed.  Further up the glen, was a huge stockage which was 
constructed of very large stones but this was falling to ruin.  There are no residents.  Cattle, deer, and game birds occupied 
the land. The Forestry Department grew Sitka Spruce and developed other experimental plots.  
South-east of Duisky, along the shore there were a number of deserted crofts, and a few occupied.  Further around, there 
are some better and more prosperous holdings, including the farm of Dougal MacLean, one of the eldest local inhabitants.  
5ƻǳƎŀƭΩǎ ŜȄŀŎǘ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇ ǘƻ ΨƻǳǊΩ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ ƛǎ ƴƻǘ ƪƴƻǿƴ. 
 

Population ς who were they? 

 

¶ Census (1841): 

 Duisky:  12 households, 62 people with 21% MacMillan surnames. 



 

E20 - Places - Blaich & Duisky - v4 ς by Don Gordon ς printed 5 March 2018 ς page 9 

 Blaich: 47 households, 286 people with surnames of MacLean 15%, Cameron 14%, MacDonald 12%, 
Boyd 9% and Livingston 8%. 

¶ Names:   

 άSouthward along the shore are a number of deserted crofts, and a few occupied.  Continue around, 
and one comes to better and more prosperous holdings, including the farm of Dougal MacLean, one of 
ǘƘŜ ŜƭŘŜǎǘ ƭƻŎŀƭ ƛƴƘŀōƛǘŀƴǘǎΦ Lǘ ƛǎ ŘƛŦŦƛŎǳƭǘ ǘƻ ǘǊŀŎŜ ǊŜƭŀǘƛƻƴǎƘƛǇέ (Douglas MacLean in 1975, BRB 5).  
Comment:  Douglas McLean might have been referring to crofts on the western shores of Loch Linnhe 
rather than around Blaich.  

 Although the McLean name might have been the most numerous around Blaich in the generations 
before our Donald, they gradually became less common as names such as MacMillan and Boyd.  
McVeigh also came into prominence (Gibson pxx). ς  [research:  How many of these individuals can we 
actually name ς we are attempting to do this on a separate family tree on the website.] 

 The Camerons were dominant in the parish of Kilmalie (reference xxxx) but not in Ardgour. 

 The Gordons were probably not present in significant numbers ς certainly not around Blaich and 
Duisky ς even though the Duke of Gordon was very influential in Fort William.  He was the proprietor 
of the area in which the town stood and was considered to be powerful even though he probably was 
not living there. 

 Today, the McLeans have virtually no presence around Blaich - no McLeans owning property [research: 
Check this] and no one by the name of McLean living there.  However, Douglas Maclean mentions an 
elderly Dougal Maclean living in Ardgour in 1975 but it is not clear whether this was near Blaich, or 
further down near Loch Linnheέ (BRB p5).   

 Male heads of family in 1837 (Old Scottish  
 

Population - migration 

¶ Our McLeans were by no means the first or the last highlanders to migrated.  They were part of a flood of people 
leaving for the larger towns and to the colonies of Australia, New Zealand, America and Canada. 

¶ A teacher at Fort William has records of emigrants, not just to the colonies. (Ian Miller, ancestry.com) 

¶ Ewen McLean in Blaich on the 1841 Scotland Census, who was born about 1791, and a wife Margaret (Peggy) 
and 6 children.  They migrated to America in December that year (ancestry.com ς message posted by 
kfstewart103) 

¶ Three big Blaich families migrated to NSW twelve years after the McLeans ς there were 27 people, including the 
Livingstones, McColls and McInnes.  This would have had a big impact on the Blaich community of that time.   

¶ Alexander (13th [ŀƛǊŘύ ŀǎǎƛǎǘŜŘ ну ǇŜƻǇƭŜ ŦǊƻƳ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊ ǘƻ ǎŀƛƭ ǘƻ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀ ƛƴ мурп ƻƴ ǘƘŜ Ψ5ŜǊǊȅ /ŀǎǘƭŜΩ όDƛōǎƻƴ 
p191).  Of these 28, two were from Garvan, two from Treslaig, two from Achaphubil and nine from Duisky. (ref 
Gibson p253).  Those from Duisky were Flora & Donald McPherson and their 6 children ς and also Sarah Ferguson.  
They were all sponsored by Col A Maclean of Ardgour (William Clarke).  ¢ƘŜ Ψ5ŜǊǊȅ /ŀǎǘƭŜΩ ƭŜŦǘ [ƛǾŜǊǇƻƻƭ ƻƴ мst 
Oct 1854 and arrived in Portland Bay in 21st Jan 1855.  It had xxx passengers assisted by the Highland & Island 
Emigration Society. 

 Donald McPHERSON, aged 45, from Duisky, ticket 858 
Á Flora McPHERSON, aged 40 
Á Johanna McPHERSON, aged 14 
Á Christy McPHERSON, aged 12 
Á Donald McPHERSON, aged 10 
Á Peter McPHERSON, aged 8 
Á Ann McPHERSON, aged 6 
Á Dugald McPHERSON, aged 3 

 Sarah FERGUSON, aged 20, from Duisky, ticket 851, £1-0-0 paid into Union Bank Glasgow, A/C Hon. A. 
Kinnard 

 The McPhersons left Duisky 17 years after our McLeans.  We do not know if they were all in Duisky at 
the same time (Donald McPherson would have been around the same age as the older McLean boys).  
There are no indications that the McPherson family ever knew our McLeans in Duisky or ever reunited 
in Australia.  [research:  Check the census of 1841 & 18551 census for Duisky for these names]. 

¶ The male heads of family (Old Scottish Genealogy & Family History ς see appendix K) 

 Blaich:  Donald Matheson (elder) in 1837 & 1838, Dugald McDonald 1837 & 1838, Donald McDonald 
1837 & 1838, Charles McInnes 1837, Peter MacInnes 1837, Angus McKinnon 1837, Hugh McLean (elder) 
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1838, Charles McInnes 1838, Angus Kennedy 1838, John Cameron 1838, Dugald McMillan 1838 & Peter 
MacInnes 1838. 

 Duisky:  John MacLachlan 1837 & 1838, John MacIntyre in 1837 & Donald MacIntyre 1838 
 

Lairds of Blaich 
¶ See our notes on ΨMcLean lŀƛǊŘǎ ƻŦ .ƭŀƛŎƘΩ 

¶ Although there were lairs of Blaich, in effect, Blaich was in the hands of the liars of Ardgour. 

¶ There is no information about where the Lairds of Blaich lived ς there were never any grand houses around there.   
In fact, at various times, the laird might have lived some distance from Blaich. 

 

 
Land use & industries 
¶ Farming 

¶ Loch 

¶ Hunting:  It appears that 1844 was the first year of an income being recorded for shooting in Ardgour (ref: Gibson 
p 230 citing NRA 3583/B bundle 6).  Alexander McLean (13th Laird) built a shooting lodge (for deer hunting) in 
Blaich some time before 1858 because it is mentioned in the prospectus for the sale of the Blaich which was sold 
to Earl of Morton in 1858. (ref: Gibson p225 & p43)  [research: Get hold of the prospectus for that sale]  

¶ Shellfish:  Blaich shoreline line (Loch Eil Sanitary Survey Report in 2012 by CEFAS, page 5) 
 

Transport 
¶ The road would have been rutted and boggy in parts.  It would have been quite busy ς mainly walkers but some 

horses and sulkies and perhaps draft horses pulling drays.  To get to the population centres across the loch many 
would have walked about 5 kilometres to the Narrows (which was only about 200 metres wide at low tide) and 
then took their own small boat or caught the ferry across (or the kids might have swum but the tidal flow is rapid 
and it would have been cold ς was probably never frozen over).  Corpach is on the other side of the Narrows and 
people would then walk a few kilometres, if they wanted to go to Maryburgh (Fort William).  The return journey 
could be undertaken within a day.  Alexander MacLean used to boat over each day for his tailoring work 
(Willowburn).Allan MacLean of Willowburn).  For some, the journey might have required an over-night stay so it 
would not have been undertaken without a little planning.  The possession of a small rowing boat would have 
been very useful for fishing and getting to Maryburgh.  [research:  How valid is this whole description for this 
time and location?] 
 

..ooOOoo.. 
 

Duisky 
 

Summary 
 
XXXXXXXX 
 

Name: 
¶ άhƴ ǘƘŜ !ƴ 5ǳōƘ ¦ƛǎƎŜ ǊƛǾŜǊΣ ŀ ǎŜǘǘƭŜƳŜƴǘ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ Ψ5ǳǎƪŜǊΩ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǇƛŎǘŜŘ ƛƴ мтпт-мтрр ŀƴŘ ŀǎ Ψ5ǳƛǎƪƛŜΩ ƛƴ мумоέ 

(Robertson p6).   

¶ North Duisky & South Duisky (Jim Kirby xxxx & Strachan xxx) 

¶ Ψ5ǳƴǎƪŜȅΩ ς this is how Donald named his house in Hilton (BRB pxxx). [research: Check this.] 

¶ Douskie 

¶ άhƴ ǘƘŜ !ƴ 5ǳōƘ ¦ƛǎƎŜ ǊƛǾŜǊΣ ŀ ǎŜǘǘƭŜƳŜƴǘΣ ƪƴƻǿƴ ŀǎ Ψ5ǳǎƪŜǊΩΣ ǿŀǎ ŘŜǇƛŎǘŜŘ ƛƴ мтпт-55 and, as ΨDuiskieΩ in 1813έ 
(Robertson p6). 

¶ Gaelic:  ΨŘǳōƘ ǳƛǎƎŜΩ ƳŜŀƴƛƴƎ ΨōƭŀŎƪ ǿŀǘŜǊ ǎǘǊŜŀƳΩ όǊŜŦΥ [ƭƻȅŘΩǎ [ƛǎǘΣ [ƻƴŘƻn, November 1838 in John Mathews, 
p 6).  This was possibly an allusion to the Black Water burn which separated North Duisky and South Duisky. 

¶ Duisky peninsula is Rubha Dubh Uisge 
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¶ Dalmore ς this is what Strachan called the loch shore at Duisky. 
 

Who were living there? 

¶ CƻǊ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜΣ ǿŜ Ŏŀƴ ƻƴƭȅ ƎǳŜǎǎ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊΣ ŀǇŀǊǘ ŦǊƻƳ Ƙƛǎ ƭŀǊƎŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ (quite a presence of 12 people in a 
small community), there were probably at least another few families living in the crofting cottages on Duisky.   

¶ In 1858, the Strachan map shows 10 structures - these would be barns as well as cottages, and not all cottages 
would have been inhabited.  But there could have been a few families there.  

¶ Census: 
 

 
 
Size - location & boundaries 

 

¶ The Strachan map in appendix C was produced 21 years after Donald left the area.  We assume that the Duisky 
boundaries were much the same as when Donald was there ς but although the boundaries were unchanged, 
there were big changes in ownership in 1858. 

¶ Duisky had 10 structures, 5 crofts, on 5229 acres with 2.1 kms shoreline. 

¶ Blaich had 51 structures, 30 crofts, on 3869 acres with 5.5 kms shoreline.  

¶ In 1792 farms in Kilmalie averaged 6.25 square miles. (Fraser pxxx) which is 4000 acres. 

¶ Comparison:  There were 5 properties along the southern shore of 20 kms ς Dumfern, Garvan (N&S), Duiskie 
(N&S), Blaich and Achaphubil.  There were 61 crofts and 116 structures on 18,600 acres.  Duisky was the largest, 
comprising 28% of the acreage but Blaich had half of the crofts and 40% of the structures.  So, by comparison, 
Duisky was used less intensively with just 5 crofts and 10 structures ς was this because the land was not as 
workable as Blaich? 
 

¢ƘŜ .w. ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ άgrew up to lease the Duisky Estate.  From owning 100, 000 acres the family now leased 12,000 
acresέ ό.w. Ǉпύ ŀƴŘ ά12,000 acres of Duisky by Loch Eil, Donald belongedέ ό.w. ǇуύΣ ŀƴŘ άhe leased 20 square miles of 
country known as Douskie Estate, Ardgoreέ ό.w. ǇфύΦ    
 
These BRB quotes imply a major decline of family fortunes ς from owners to leasers, and from 100,000 acres to 12,000 
acres.   But think again. 
 
CŀƳƛƭȅΥ  ²ƘƛŎƘ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǿŀǎ ǘƘƛǎΚ  ²ŀǎ ƛǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƻǿƴ ŎƻǊŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ς ie his father and perhaps his uncles and grandfather?  
But think again. 
 
Lairds:  Given that the family once owned 100,000 acres, and given that owners of such extensive lands in Scotland in past 
generations had the status of lairds, we might conclude that Donald was the son of a laird or at least had close connections 
within the lairdship system.  But think again 
 
Huge:  At first reading of this quote we might think that the estate, Duisky which Donald was leasing, extended to 
12,000 acres.  In the Scottish context, this is huge.  But think again. 
 
Decimation:  The fall from being owners of a large property, to renters of as much smaller property would be 
devastating.  But think again.  
 
Thinking again:  A closer reading of these quotes lead us away from a core family, away from lairdship, away from Duisky 
being huge, and away from decimation.  The confusion is the conflation of the two entities ς the extent of all the lands 
under the control of the Laird of Ardgour on one hand, and on the other hand, the management of the Duisky Estate.   In 
fact, the BRB is not claiming that Donald himself was leasing 12,000 acres.   

¶ bƻǘ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΥ  ¢ƘŜ ΨŦŀƳƛƭȅΩ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊ ƻǊ ƎǊŀƴŘŦŀǘƘŜǊ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜ ōǊƻŀŘŜǊ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ς perhaps the McLean 
ƭŀƛǊŘǎ ƻŦ .ƭŀƛŎƘ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƛǎ ǎƻƳŜǘƛƳŜǎ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ŀǎ ǘƘŜ ΨǎŜŎƻƴŘ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩΦ  .ǳǘ Ƴƻǎǘ ƭƛƪŜƭȅΣ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǊŜŦŜǊǊŜŘ ǘƻ ƛǎ 
the whole McLean clan in Ardgour ς ƛŜ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƴŘǎ ǳƴŘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ [ŀƛǊŘ ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊΦ  {ƻΣ ǘƘŜ ΨŦŀƳƛƭȅΩ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ 
Clan MacLean in Ardgour headed by the Laird of Ardgour   
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¶ Not lairds:  So there are two estates being considered ς the large Ardgour estate and the much smaller Duisky 
farm.  We know that lairdship has been is associated with the Ardgour estate, but Duisky, by itself, was not 
associated with lairdship ς however, until at least 1758 there was a Laird of Blaich which probably included 
Duisky and the other estates and crofts along the southern shores of Loch Ei.  So, someone would not be a laird, 
Ƨǳǎǘ ōȅ ǾƛǊǘǳŀƭ ƻŦ ƭŜŀǎƛƴƎ 5ǳƛǎƪȅΦ  .w. ǎǘŀǘŜǎ άTradition was that only a kinsman of the Laird might lease any of 
ǘƘŜ ŜǎǘŀǘŜέ (ref: BRB p8) but this not always true ς eg McLachlan and Cameron leased Duisky in 1835.  

¶ Not huge:  According to a map in appendix C by T Strachan in 1858, North Duisky was 748 acres and South Duisky 
was 4481 acres.  We do not know whether Donald was on one of these properties, (and if so, which one) or 
whethŜǊ ƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ ǘƘŜƳ ōƻǘƘΣ ƻǊ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊΣ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜΣ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ǘǊŜŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ ƻƴŜ ŎƻƳōƛƴŜŘ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅΦ  ¢ƘŜ 
contemporary MacLean papers just refer to leases of Duisky, without making a distinction between north and 
south, so we will take it that, when Donald was there, the two properties were operating as one.  Thus, it is 
reasonable for us to take it that Duisky was the combined 5229 acres.  This is less than half 12,000 acres, but still 
a substantial property. 

¶ Not decimation:  ¢ƘŜ .w. ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ǳǎŜ ǘƘŜ ǿƻǊŘ ΨŘŜŎƛƳŀǘƛƻƴΩ ǿƘƛŎƘ ƳŜŀƴǎΣ ǎǘǊƛŎǘƭȅΣ ƻƴŜ-tenth.  However 
certainly it is saying it was a change from 100,000 to 12,000 ς and we think it was from 100,000 to 5229.  The 
ǿƘƻƭŜ ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊ ǿŀǎ ŀōƻǳǘ мллΣллл ŀŎǊŜǎ ƛƴ мпнлΣ ǿƘŜƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ Ψ¢ƘŜ IǳƴǘŜǊΩ ŎƻƴǉǳŜǊŜŘ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜa ς and it was 
ƳǳŎƘ ǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜ.  However, the northern half of Ardgour, including Blaich, was sold off soon 
after Donald left the area.  This sale was to the Earl of Morton in 1858.  It still left about 45,000 acres in McLean 
hands.  This was further reduced in 1996 when Ardgour House and some surrounding land was sold to Graeme 
Cox.  This left the Ardgour Estate, now more specifically called Sallachan Farm, in McLean hands today ς xx acres.  
These changes occurred after Donald left, so it should not be said that Blaich was decimated while he was there, 
but certainly, today, the McLeans have virtually no presence around Blaich - no McLeans owning property 
[research: Check this] and no one by the name of McLean living there.  The Ardgour Estate was halved [research: 
Check this] ς from 100,000 acres to xxxx acres but is still substantial ς and might be the largest [research: Check 
this] expanse of McLean properties in the Western Highlands and Isles.  Ardgour was not as affected by the 
decimations which were inflicted on the holdings of the McLean and other clans in the late 1600s and particularly 
ŀŦǘŜǊ /ǳƭƭƻŘŜƴΦ   ¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎŜŘ ŦǳǊǘƘŜǊ ƛƴ ƻǳǊ ƴƻǘŜǎ ΨtƭŀŎŜǎ ƻŦ ƻǳǊ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ ƛƴ {ŎƻǘƭŀƴŘΩ ŀƴŘ Ψ¢ƘŜ aŎ[Ŝŀƴǎ ƛƴ 
ǘƘŜ WŀŎƻōƛǘŜ ¦ǇǊƛǎƛƴƎǎΩΦ 

¶ Conclusion:  Selling half does not amount to decimation, but is certainly a decline in family fortunes (depending 
on why they sold and what they did with the proceeds).   At the time that Donald was there, the Ardgour lands 
were the same as they had been for the previous four centuries.  Soon after he left, it was halved, and 
significantly it no longer includes 5ǳƛǎƪȅΦ  {ƻΣ ŦǊƻƳ ΨƻǳǊΩ ŦŀƳƛƭȅΩǎ Ǉƻƛƴǘ ƻŦ ǾƛŜǿΣ Duisky is no longer in McLean 
hands ς and this feels like decimation. 

 

Ownership 
 

¶ In 1480, the 2nd Laird of Ardgour gave Blaich to one of his sons and thereby established the line of lairds of Blaich.  
Maybe this included Duisky and perhaps other properties such as Archphubil and Garvan.  [research: Check this].   

¶ Whether or not Duisky was ever under the lairds of Blaich, we know that it was under Alexander, the 13th Laird 
ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊ ƛƴ ƻǳǊ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ƛǎ ǎǳōǎǘŀƴǘƛŀǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊ ǇŀǇŜǊǎ όǇȄȄȄȄύΦ   

¶ ¢ƘǳǎΣ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƭŀƴŘƭƻǊŘ ǿŀǎ ǘƘŜ ƭŀƛǊŘ ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊΣ ŀƴŘ ǘƘƛǎ ƛǎ ǘƻ ǿƘƻƳ ƘŜ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ǇŀƛŘ ŀƴȅ Ŧees for lease of 
the property and for fishing. 

¶ In 1858, about two decades after Donald left, the laird of Ardgour sold Duisky and other properties to the Earl of 
Morton. 

¶ It was still owned by Morton in 1933 (BRB p8) and 1975 (BRB p8) 

¶ The present owners and leasees are not known.  The property may have been subdivided because the patterns 
of land ownership and land use have changed in the past century. 

 

Leasing 
 

¶ ά5ƻƴŀƭŘ ƎǊŜǿ ǳǇ ǘƻ ƭŜŀǎŜ ǘƘŜ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ 9ǎǘŀǘŜέ ό.w. ǇпύΦ 

¶ "Donald McLean held a lease of 20 square miles of land, known as the Duiskie Estate, Ardgour, near Fort William.έ  

¶ Multiple properties 

 We do not have any indications that Donald leased any other properties in addition to Duisky.  However, 
it seemed to be the practice of other people in that era, to lease several properties in conjunction with 
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Duisky.  This implies that several properties were managed together and also, because of the scale and 
spread of these properties, that the leasee could not have farmed them all personally, and certainly did 
not have his own home on all of them.  It implies that workers/shepherds/farmers were engaged to 
undertake at least some of the day-to-Řŀȅ ǿƻǊƪΦ   ¢ƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǉǳƻǘŜ ǎǳǇǇƻǊǘǎ ǘƘƛǎ ŎƻƳƳŜƴǘΥ άwith 
effect from Whitsunday 1853, to John Mitchell of Inverscadle, and new lease for 19 years of Inverscadle, 
Dalindrein, Stronchregan, Croft No.1 Trislaig, and farm of Duiskyέ όaŀŎƭŜŀƴ ǇŀǇŜǊǎ ǇрфύΦ 

¶ Working the properties 

 ά[ŜǘǘŜǊ ŦǊƻƳ ΧΦ ǘŜƴŀƴǘǎ ƻŦ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ Χ ǇǊƻǇƻǎƛƴƎ ŜǊŜŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ŀ ǿƛǊŜ ŦŜƴŎŜ ΧΦ ǘƻ ǇǊŜǾŜƴǘ ǎǘǊŀȅƛƴƎ ǎƘŜŜǇΣ ǎƛƴŎŜ 
ǘƘŜȅ Ŏŀƴƴƻǘ ŦƛƴŘ ŀƴȅƻƴŜ ǘƻ ǎǘŀȅ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀǊŎƘΣ ǘƘŜ ǇƭŀŎŜ ōŜƛƴƎ ǊŜƳƻǘŜΣ мр aŀǊŎƘ муроέ  (MacLean papers 
ǇрфύΦ  {ƻ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƴƻǘ Ŝŀǎȅ ǘƻ ƎŜǘ ǿƻǊƪŜǊǎκǎƘŜǇƘŜǊŘǎκŦŀǊƳŜǊǎΦ  !ƴŘ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ǿŀǎ ǎŜŜƴ ŀǎ ΨǊŜƳƻǘŜΩΦ 

¶ .ŜŦƻǊŜ муллΥ  5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΚ 

 ²Ŝ ƘŀǾŜ ƴƻǘ ŦƻǳƴŘ ŀƴȅ ǊŜŎƻǊŘǎ ƻŦ ǿƘƻ ǿŀǎ ƭŜŀǎƛƴƎ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǘŜ мтллǎΦ  Lǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ 
father AllaƴΣ ŀƴŘκƻǊ !ƭƭŀƴΩǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΦ  ²Ŝ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ƪƴƻǿΦ 

 Allan might have owned or leased some land ς Duisky or another property in the area.   

 There was a tradition that only a kinsman of the laird might lease any of the estate (ref: BRB p4&8) and 
this honour often fell to the eldest son or the next brother (BRB p4), so there may have been long 
standing family connections with the property.  There were certainly strong McLean clan connections 
with it.  However specific connections have not been found.  

 It is said that DƻƴŀƭŘ άƎǊŜǿ ǳǇ ǘƻ ƭŜŀǎŜ ǘƘŜ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ŜǎǘŀǘŜέ όǊŜŦΥ .w. Ǉпύ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ ƛǘ άƻƴ ŀǘǘŀƛƴƛƴƎ 
ŀŘǳƭǘƘƻƻŘέ όǊŜŦΥ .w. ǇсύΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ƳƛƎƘǘ ōŜ ŀƴ ƛƴŘƛŎŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ǇǊŜǾƛƻǳǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ 
possibly through his father, and that he may have had associations with the property, possibly living 
there, for some years before he became the actual leasee.  The date and circumstances of his acquiring 
the lease can only be guessed at. 

¶ After 1800 : Donald McLean? 

 ¢ƘŜ .w. ǎǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ aŎ[Ŝŀƴ άgrew up to lease Duisky Estateέ όǇпύ ŀƴŘ άon attaining adulthood 
Χ ƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ 5ƻǳǎƪƛŜ [sic] Estateέ όсύΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ƛƳǇƭƛŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ƘŜ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƘŀǾŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ŜŀǊƭȅ 
20s ς perhaps on the turn of the century. 

 Leases in that area were usually for 19 years and often commenced on Whitsunday (end of May, begin 
ƻŦ WǳƴŜύΦ  {ƻΣ ƭŜǘΩǎ ƛƳŀƎƛƴŜ ǘƘŀǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘ ōŜŎŀƳŜ ǘƘŜ ǘŀŎƪǎƳŀƴ ƛƴ муллΦ  ¢ƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ǘŜǊƳ ǿƻǳƭŘ ƘŀǾŜ ǘŀƪŜƴ 
it to 1819 and the second to about 1838.  This makes it the time he migrated in 1837. 

 Maybe Donald never was the tacksman but was farming Duisky (or part of Duisky) as a crofter.  But he 
must have been more than a humble crofter.  Donald was quite prosperous with perhaps over half a 
Ƴƛƭƭƛƻƴ ŘƻƭƭŀǊǎ όƛƴ ǘƻŘŀȅΩǎ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀƴ ŘƻƭƭŀǊǎύΦ  {ŜŜ ƻǳǊ ŀǊǘƛŎƭŜ ΨIƻǿ ǿŜŀƭǘƘȅ ǿŀǎ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΚΩΣ ƻǊ    

 Maybe Donald was the tacksman up to 1835 but relinquished it in anticipation of migrating two years 
later, or 

 aŀȅōŜ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƭŜŀǎŜ ǿŀǎ ǘŜǊƳƛƴŀǘŜŘ όǎŜŜ ƴŜȄǘ Řƻǘ Ǉƻƛƴǘύ ōȅ ǎƻƳŜ Ŧŀǳƭǘ ƻƴ Ƙƛǎ ǇŀǊǘ ς and this might 
have prompted him to decide to migrate,   

 The BRB does not state the sources for asserting that Donald leased this property.  Maybe it was what 
he and his children had told others after they migrated - and this information was passed down through 
subsequent generations.  So, we have not found any direct evidence that Donald leased Duisky Estate ς 
thus the previous dot-points are just speculation.  

¶ From 1835 to 1844:  McLachlan & Cameron 

 Who took over the Duisky tack from Donald?  Obviously not any of his sons because they migrated with 
him in 1837.  It seems that Donald had no authority over the property once he had left it. 

 John McLachlan and Donald Cameron leased the estate from May 1835 for 9 years (Maclean papers, 
p55).  The unusual term of 9 years (rather than 19 years) indicates an unexpected cessation of the 
previous lease ς ǇŜǊƘŀǇǎ ŀ ǘŜǊƳƛƴŀǘƛƻƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƭŜŀǎŜΦ 

 John MacLachlan was named as head of household in 1837 & 1838 in Duisky (appendix K) ς this indicates 
that he was resident at Duisky as well as the leasee.   

¶ From 1844 to 1853 - McLachlan & McLachlan 

 We learn from the MacLean papers that Donald and Angus McLachlan had been tenants of Duisky up to 
1853 (Maclean papers, p59).  Perhaps John McLachlan & Donald Cameron ceased the Duisky lease at 
the end of their 9 year term which began in 1835.  So maybe McLachlan & McLachlan took over the 
lease in 1844 ς for 9 years. 

¶ After 1853 ς John Mitchell 
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 John Mitchell became the new tenant (Ardgour papers, p59). 

 In 1853, it was recorded that on Duisky, άA dwelling-house is noted as having been build [sic] ōȅ Ψ5ƻƴŀƭŘ 
aŀŎ[ŜŀƴΣ ƴƻǿ ƛƴ !ǳǎǘǊŀƭƛŀΩ" (Ardgour papers, p59).   This was noted 16 years after he had left.  Perhaps 
he built it many years before he left the area in 1837.  Presumably it was his main place of living with his 
family. It is significant, that after he had been absent for so long, that locals still remember his association 
with Duisky ς as a builder, farmer, large family and perhaps citizen involved in local affairs. 

¶ Present day 

 We do not know the current situation. 
 
What did he lease? 

¶ We are taking it that Donald leased the whole property rather than that he was just one of several people leasing 
parts of it.   

¶ It was unlikely that he was just a crofter because, when he migrated, he had more cash than a crofter would have 
normally have managed to accrue.   

¶ If he did not lease any of it, it would be useful to find out who in fact was the leasee.   

¶ On the other hand, if he did hold the whole of this large property:- 

 It would have taken quite a number of workers ς this would have included his children when they 
became old enough after the early 1830s.  

 It was difficult to get workers (Ardgour papers pxxx) 

¶ We do not know whether Donald was on one of these properties (North Duisky & South Duisky) - and if so, which 
one Donald was on - ƻǊ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ƘŜ ƭŜŀǎŜŘ ǘƘŜƳ ōƻǘƘΣ ƻǊ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊΣ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ǘƛƳŜΣ ǘƘŜȅ ǿŜǊŜ ǘǊŜŀǘŜŘ ŀǎ ƻƴŜ 
combined property.   

¶ Were there two Duisky (north & South).  There are few indicators of two ς rather than one.  Contemporary 
Ardgour papers just refer to leases of Duisky, without making a distinction between north and south, so we will 
take it that, when Donald was there, the two properties were operating as one. 

¶ [research: Land titles and tacks for that area] 
 

Cost of lease 
¶ We Řƻ ƴƻǘ ƪƴƻǿ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ƻŦ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƭŜŀǎŜ ōǳǘ maybe he paid about 150 pounds per year for his 19 square 
ƳƛƭŜǎΦ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ŦƛƎǳǊŜ ƛǎ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ CǊŀǎŜǊΩǎ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ ς bearing in mind that his report was for 1792 whereas Donald was 
renting Duisky from the 1800 at the earliest up to 1837 (up to 45 years difference).  

¶ In 1792 farms in Kilmalie averaged 6.25 square miles and for a farm that size, the rent was 50 pounds miles ς so 
maybe Duisky, which was somewhat larger than the average, might have rented for about 150 pounds. 

¶ There were only 18 farms in Ardgour (Duisky must have been one of these) and the rents ranged from one at 
340 pounds (this might have been Duisky), two for 260 pounds and one for 100 pounds ς with the lowest at 30 
pounds. (ref: Fraser p433).   

¶ Also, by comparison, the Blaich farm was rent for about 67 pounds in 1823 ς and Blaich was almost certainly the 
ΨōŜǘǘŜǊΩ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘȅ ς it was a larger area and was probably more productive/fertile as indicated by the fact that 
there were far more crofts in Blaich. In 1823, Alexander MacLean (13th Laird), as the owner of Blaich farm, 
arranged for John Cumming of Achdalieu to inquire officially into what rent should be charged.  He concluded 
that fifty pounds a year would be a just and fair rent for the farm itself and a total of 67 pounds if manufacturing 
kelp was included. He noted that the farm was comprised of 27 crofters and thus, on average, the rent (inclusive 
of kelp) for the crofts should be 2 pounds ten shillings each. (Ardgour papers p9).   

¶ In 1792, a croft was rented for xxxxx and cottages were 200 pounds (p433) but this might have been all been 
included with the tack for Duisky.  . 

¶ If he paid for a fishing permit (to another McLean) this might have been xxxxx 

¶ Although there was some discussion in 1825 (ref: Mclean papers, p12) that the rent for Blaich Farm should be up 
to 200 pounds, in fact most could not pay their rent from the produce of from their crofts in the late 1820s and 
they were reliant on income from working on the Caledonian Canal and roads as well as from herring fishing. 

¶ Kelp: John Cumming stated, άLǘ ƛǎ ǿŜƭƭ ƪƴƻǿόƴύ ǘƘŀǘ ŀƭƭ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻǇǊƛŜǘƻǊǎ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƘƛƎƘƭŀƴŘǎ ǿƘŜǊŜ ǇǊƻǇŜǊǘƛŜǎ ōƻǊŘŜǊ 
on the Sea, are in the invariable practice of manufacturing the Seaware into Kelp, and thereby deriving a 
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coƴǎƛŘŜǊŀōƭŜ {ŜǇŀǊŀǘŜ ƛƴŎƻƳŜ ǘƘŜǊŜŦǊƻƳέΦ He went on to state that άǿƛǘƘƻǳǘ ǘƘŜ ōŜƴŜŦƛǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ {ŜŀǿŀǊŜΣ L Ŏŀƴƴƻǘ 
ŎƻƳǇǊŜƘŜƴŘ Ƙƻǿ ǘƘŜǎŜ /ǊƻŦǘŜǊǎ ŎƻǳƭŘ Ǉŀȅ ŀƴȅ wŜƴǘ ŀǘ ŀƭƭ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŘǳŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜƛǊ /ǊƻŦǘǎέΦ (Ardgour papers, p9)   

¶ J McVean estimated the rent in February 1806 was :- 

 500 pounds for the area from the River of Duisky, a small proportion of Duisky, two Garvans, Drumfairn 
and Caulp. 

 500 pounds for Trinsalaig, Archachuple, Blaich and to the River of Duisky.   
 

Terrain (physical features) 
 
Duisky was one of the larger farms in Kilmallie ς but how does it compare in the quality and quantity of good arable land. 
 
Much of it is mountainous and untillable.    
 
Loch Eil 

¶ ά¢ƘŜ ƭƻŎƘ ƛǎ ŀǇǇǊƻȄƛƳŀǘŜƭȅ мл ƪƳ ƛƴ ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ŀƴŘ мΦн ƪƳ ŀǘ ƛǘǎ ǿƛŘŜǎǘ ǎŜŎǘƛƻƴΣ ŀƴŘ Ƙŀǎ ŀ maximum depth of 71 
ƳŜǘǊŜǎέ ό[ƻŎƘ 9ƛƭ {ŀƴƛǘŀǊȅ {ǳǊǾŜȅ wŜǇƻǊǘ ƛƴ нлмн ōȅ /9C!{Σ ǇŀƎŜ пύ 

 
River 

¶ An Dubh Uisge 
 

Soils 

¶ Mostly the soils around Duisky and Blaich are peaty gleys podzols and rankers (shown in red) but there are 
patches of humus iron-podzols near the shore (dark blue) and brown forest soils in the hills (light blue) 

 
Produced by Cefas Weymouth Laboratory. 

Crown Copyright and Database 2012, all rights reserved, 
Ordnance Survey licence number GD1200035675, 

Loch Eil Sanitary Survey, p17 
 

Vegetation in Duisky 

¶ Jennifer Robertson noted that walking in dry weather conditions άwas hampered by the vegetation, consisting of 
bracken on the lower slopes and long grass on the higher ground, which had not yet died down for the winterέ 
and in wet weather conditions, Duisky άwas covered in impenetrable coniferous forest and walkover survey was 
restricted to open groundέ όwƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴ Ǉоύ.   

¶ There are equal areas of coniferous woodland, open dwarf shrub heath, bog and neutral grassland.  There is 
some improved grassland near the mouth of the river (see below).  
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Crown copyright and database 2012, all rights reserved FSA, Ordnance Survey licence number GD1200035675, LCM2000, 
NERC, Loch Eil Sanitary Survey by Cefas, p18  
 
Vegetation in Blaich 

¶ Along the shoreline, there are broadleaf woodlands and small areas of improved grassland.  Away from the 
shoreline, it is dwarf shrub heath (see chart above).  

 
 

Land use, industry & economy 
¶ Donald άǊŜŀǊŜŘ ŎŀǘǘƭŜ ŀƴŘ ǎƘŜŜǇΣ ƎǊŜǿ ƻŀǘǎ ŀƴŘ ōŀǊƭŜȅ ŀƴŘ ǿŀǎ ŀƭǎƻ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘŜŘ ƛƴ the herring industryέ όaƻǊǘƭƻŎƪ 

notes, BRB p8)  

¶ Maybe distilling whisky ς but this is just speculation (BRB p4). 

¶ άCattle, deer, and game birds occupy the land. The Forestry Department grow Sitka Spruce and develop other 
ŜȄǇŜǊƛƳŜƴǘŀƭ Ǉƭƻǘǎέ (BRB 5) 

¶ Douglas aŀŎ[ŜŀƴΩǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ !ǊŘƎƻǳǊ ƛƴ мфтр ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ŀƭǎƻ ŀǇǇƭƛŜŘ ǘƻ 5ǳƛǎƪȅΦ  άCattle are penned under 
ŎƻǾŜǊ ΧΦ hƴ ŀƴ ƻŎŎŀǎƛƻƴŀƭ ŬƴŜ ŘŀȅΣ ǘƘŜȅ ŀǊŜ ǘǳǊƴŜŘ ƻǳǘŘƻƻǊǎΣ ŀǎ ƛƴ ǎǳƳƳŜǊΦ ΧΦ  ¢ƘŜ ǎƘŜŜǇ ƎǊŀŘǳŀƭƭȅ ŎƻƳŜ Řƻǿƴ 
from the Highlands, as the snow falls. Deer run, in a more than semi wild state. They are shot in season, culling 
ǘƘŜ ƘŜǊŘ ŦƻǊ ǾŜƴƛǎƻƴέ (BRB 4). 

¶ Present day use (each of these are described as structures later in these notes):-  

 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŀƎǊƛŎǳƭǘǳǊŀƭ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ όŎǊƻǇǎΣ ǎƘŜŜǇ ϧ ŎŀǘǘƭŜύ Řƻ ƴƻǘ ǎŜŜƳ ǘƻ ōŜ extensive now.  The local 
economy is now based on the following.   

 Waste dump 

 Hydro-electric 

 Small scale farming 

 Forestry 

 Fishing 

 Deer hunting 

 Tourist accommodation 

 Mussel Farm  
 

Structures 
 
Sources of information 

¶ 1858: map 21 years after our McLeans left the area. 

 By T Strahan 

 This map might have been linked with a prospectus for the sale of the northern half of Ardgour Estate. 

 Shows North Duisky with 3 crofts and 7 buildings and South Duisky with no crofts and 3 buildings.  This 
is a total of 3 crofts and 10 buildings.  Some of the structures would have been barns and farm buildings 
and at least a few would be cottages.  Some of them would have been ruins or unused.  

¶ 1858:  Site inspection by Neil McLean (Ardgour papers p59)  
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¶ 1975:  Visit of Douglas Maclean (BRB p xxx) 

¶ 2008:  Archeological survey (Robertson) 

¶ 2012:  Visit of John Mathews.  He found some stones which might have been the cairn (see below).  It is as 
disappointing that he found no definite ŜǾƛŘŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƘƻǳǎŜΣ ƻǊ ŀ ƘǳƎŜ ōŀǊƴ ς but these might be on 
private which is not easily accessible to the public. 

¶ 2017:  Margie Sorrell in 2017 

¶ 2017:  Google Earth 

¶ 2017:  PastMaps 

 This shows the locations of historic sites, superimposed on present day features. 

 Available by googling Historical Environmental Records, PastMaps 

¶ Maps:  In References, at the end of these notes (before appendices), there is a list of maps of Duisky and 
neighbouring location.  Most of these have been mentioned by Robertson.  [research: Obtain the maps from 
National Register of Archives for Scotland, HM General Register House, Edinburgh, EH1 3YY].    

¶ These accounts seem to be incompatible in several respects.  So, what can we conclude?  
 
Farmstead - house, barn, stack yard, enclosure and another structure 

¶ This farmstead was identified in an archaeological survey of Garvan and Duisky which was undertaken by Jennifer 
Robertson in 2008 for the location of pipelines for a proposed hydro scheme.   

¶ wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǎƛǘŜ у - NGR NN 0129 7679, Reference RCAHMS 201012, 777233, NN01012 7233, 55 50 38 N, 5 
15 51 W   

¶ ά! ŦŀǊƳǎǘŜŀŘ ŎƻƴǎƛǎǘƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŀ ƘƻǳǎŜΣ ōȅǊŜ ŀƴŘ ōŀǊƴΣ ŀƴƻǘƘŜǊ ǎǘǊǳŎǘǳǊŜΣ ǎǘŀŎƪ ȅŀǊŘ ŀƴŘ ŜƴŎƭƻǎǳǊŜΣ ƛǎ ǎƛǘǳŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ 
the east side of the track, which runs along the east side of the An Dubh Uisge River.  

a) The house at NN 0129 7679 was perhaps relatively recently abandoned and still has a corrugated 
iron roof.  

b) The byre/barn [cowshed] at NN 0129 7677 is a fine example with three compartments, four doors 
and slit windows in the lower storey, a hayloft door and windows in the upper storey.  

c) A small dilapidated rectangular building at NN 0130 7678 may have been a store.  
d) A level topped platform between the house and byre may have been a stack yard.  
e) An enclosure, defined by a low stone wall, is situated on lower ground to the east of the buildings.  

¶ ά¢ƘŜ ŦŀǊƳǎǘŜŀŘ Ƴŀȅ ŘŀǘŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ƳƛŘ ǘƻ ƭŀǘŜǊ мфǘƘ ŎŜƴǘǳǊȅΤ ƛǘ ƛǎ ƳŀǊƪŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ h{ мǎǘ 9ŘΦ с aŀǇ ƻŦ мутр ōǳǘ 
not on the 1813 Map Book of Ardgour. Refs: OS 1st Ed. 6 Map Sheet Argyllshire XI, 1875έ όwƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴ ƛƴ нллу 
p8). 

¶ The Highland Council also has records of this farmstead (grid reference NN 0101 7723, map sheet NN07NW, 
HER Historic Environment Record: MHG33052, Old SMR NN07NW0012, Cranmore 153512.  In 1875, it was 
marked on OS 1st Ed. 6 map, 1875.  The Highland Council quote Robertson who noted in 2004 (ie a few years 
before her survey in 2008Σ άFull description:  One unroofed building and one enclosure.  The remains of a small 
structure are situated on the W side of a small level peninsula projecting northwards into Loch Eil. The structure, 
5m WSW ς ENE by 4m, consists of a drystone rubble walls, 0.60m wide and 0.75m high. It has been rebuilt into 
a pen, open on the ENE end and, at some stage, partly roofed with a corrugated iron sheet. 4m to the WSW is 
an enclosure, 20m NNE-SSW by 14m, situated on a steep slope, which faces NW towards the Allt Dubhaig. It is 
defined by a stone wall, 1.15m wide and 0.40m high. The NW side has been disturbed by the construction of a 
stance for a caravanΦέ 

¶ Also Historic Environment Scotland Canmore have recorded that έ! ŦŀǊƳǎǘŜŀŘΣ ŎƻƳǇǊƛǎƛƴƎ ƻƴŜ ǳƴǊƻƻŦŜŘ 
building and one enclosure is depicted on the 1st edition of the OS 6-inch map (Argyllshire 1875, sheet vi), but it 
is not shown on the current edition of the OS 1:10000 map (1974).  This information from RCAHMS (AKK) 30 
September 1998έ ό/ǊŀƴƳƻǊŜ ŘŀǘŀōŀǎŜύΦ 

¶ Comments:   

 Donald:  Maybe this is where Donald and his family lived.  It might be the 'dwelling house' he built 
(Ardgour papers p58).   

 Location:  This structure is on the small peninsula, very close to water whereas most of the structures 
on the southern side of Loch Eil are on the south side of the road. 

 Year:  wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴ ǎǘŀǘŜŘ ǘƘŀǘ άthe farmstead may date to the mid to later 19th centuryέΦ  {ƘŜ ǊŜŀŎƘŜŘ 
this conclusion because it did not appear in an 1813 map but was it there in a 1875 map.  However, it 
could be concluded that it was earlier than Roberson asserted.  Donald might have built the dwelling 
house (and perhaps the 2-story barn) between 1813 and when he migrated in 1837. 
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 Grid:   We have four lots of information about the farmstead and there are some differences which 
need to be resolved:- 
Á 1980 ς RCAHMS, Pastmap has the farmstead on the west side of the river, just above the 
ƘƛƎƘǘƛŘŜ ƳŀǊƪ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ǊƛǾŜǊΩǎ ƳƻǳǘƘ 

Á 2004 - Robertson places it on the west side of a small level peninsula projecting northwards 
into Loch Eil.  This might be an error in how the arrow was drawn in appendix xxx. 

Á 2008 - Robertson has it on the east side of the track, which runs along the east side of the An 
Dubh Uisge River 

Á The remains of the farmstead will eventually be identified by a personal visit (rather than 
internet research) using the grids provided. 

 
Big barn: 

¶ This was described In 1975: άCǳǊǘƘŜǊ ǳǇ ǘƘŜ ƎƭŜƴΣ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ƘǳƎŜ ǎǘƻŎƪŀƎŜΣ ǿƘȅ ǎƻ ƭŀǊƎŜΣ ǎǳǊŜƭȅΣ ǘƘŜȅ ƴŜǾŜǊ ƘŀŘ 
ŜƴƻǳƎƘ ǎƘŜŜǇ ŀƴŘ ŎŀǘǘƭŜ ǘƻ Ŭƭƭ ƛǘΦ  ¢ƘŜ ƘǳƎŜ ōŀǊƴ ƛǎ ŦŀƭƭƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǊǳƛƴΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎǘƻƴŜǎ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜ ƭŀǊƎŜǎǘ ǘƘŀǘ L ƘŀǾŜ ǎŜŜƴ ƛƴ 
farm ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎέ (Douglas MacLean, BRB p5). 

¶ Apart from this description, we have found no other records of this structure.  

 Maps:  It does not appear on any of the maps.   

 {ǳǊǾŜȅƻǊΥ  !ƭǘƘƻǳƎƘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŘǿŜƭƭƛƴƎ ƘƻǳǎŜ ƛǎ ǊŜƳŀǊƪŜŘ ƻƴΣ ǘƘŜ ōŀǊƴ is not mentioned by the land 
surveyor (Neil MacLean) when he was reporting as to the buildings on lands of Duisky in 1853, 16 years 
after Donald had left the area (Ardgour paper p59).  Perhaps the surveyor was not trying to list every 
building on the property, or perhaps the barn was erected after 1853.   

 Archeologist:  Robertson does not mention it 33 years after Douglas had seen it - but perhaps it was not 
ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ŀǊŜŀ ǎƘŜ ǿŀǎ ǎǘǳŘȅƛƴƎ ōŜŎŀǳǎŜ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ άfurther up the glenέΦ  wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴ ŘŜǎŎǊƛōŜǎ ŀ ƭŀǊƎŜ Ŏƻǿ-
shed next to the farmsǘŜŀŘΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘƛǎ ŘƻŜǎ ƴƻǘ ƳŀǘŎƘ 5ƻǳƎƭŀǎ aŀŎƭŜŀƴΩǎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ŀƴȅ ǿŀȅΦ   

¶ [research:  We could ask someone living at Glenview about this barn or we could get access to the private land 
to walk further up the glen.] 

¶ Comment:  We are left wondering what part ǘƘƛǎ ōŀǊƴ ƘŀŘ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƭƛŦŜ ς and does it really matter.  
 
Glenview 

¶ Glenview is a cluster of 3 houses. 

¶ Maybe this is where Donald built his dwelling house. 

¶ It is surprising that Robertson did not make any mention of Glenview when she was surveying the area in 2008.  
Maybe, because it was an archaeological study, Robertson was not looking at modern structures.    For example, 
she did not mention the school.  

 
Suileag View 

¶ A cottage at Stonchreggan Bridge. 

¶ Comment:  This is on ǘƘŜ ǿŜǎǘŜǊƭȅ ŜŘƎŜ ƻŦ 5ǳƛǎƪȅΦ  aŀȅōŜ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ƭƛǾŜŘ ǘƘŜǊŜΦ 
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Duisky school: 

¶ Reference :  Latitude 56.8461175561, Longitude:  -5.2902710438 , NN 0075 7726, map sheet NN07NW, HER 
Historic Environment Record MHG34202, NMRS NUMLINK 105993 & NN07NW11, Old SMR NN07NW0013, 
Cranmore 105993, OSGB36-NGR.     

¶ The Duisky school is recorded by the Highland Council   

¶ This school was built in 1879 (or 1882, per J Cox).  The architect was Alexander Ross (I.C. July 31, 1879).    

¶ It ceased to be used as a school in 19xxx  - It is might now be used for B&B accommodation. 

 
Photo in 2012 by John Mathews ï permission required  

¶ Before this school:   

 We are wanting to know about educational opportunities near Duisky and Blaich in the years between 
1785 and 1837. 

 The school was built a long time after our family had left the area.  ¢ƘŜǊŜ ǿŀǎƴΩǘ ŀ ǎŎƘƻƻƭ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ 
time. 

 The 1841 census, just four years after the family left the area, has several people identified as 
schoolmasters living in Blaich.  There are no direct indications that these schoolmasters were operating 
a school, and if so, where?  Maybe they provided private tuition for individuals or small informal groups. 

¶ Other schools:- 

 άI have been to Blaich and know from speaking to locals that the school existed but the only one we 
could find (and have photos of it if anyone is interested) is the later one built in Garvan about 1870έ 
(Annin the UK ς ancestory.com)  Comment:  Maybe this was the school in Duisky rather than Garvan.  

 By 1895, Groome states that oƴŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ YƛƭƳŀƭƭƛŜΩǎ ƴƛƴŜ ǇǳōƭƛŎ ǎŎƘƻƻƭǎ ǿŀǎ ŀǘ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ς this was probably 
the one built in 1882.  Certainly, there was no school there about 115 years earlier at the time that 
Donald might have been attending school ς or 65 years earlier when the McLean children were of school 
age.  

 There is now a little school at Archphubuil which is a few kilometres east of Blaich ς but probably too 
far for children to go each day.   Anyway, it was not built until 18xx. 

   
Tourist accommodation - B&B 

¶ The Old School Chalet:  This was the Duisky school (see above) which has been converted into tourist 
accommodation, however it might no longer be available for tourists.  Phone +44 (0)1397 722227 and 
www.scotlandlogcabin.co.uk/the-old-school-chalets.htm. 

¶ The Log Cabin, Loch Eil:   

¶ Mossbank Cottage: To book a stay, phone xxxxxxx 

¶ Four Oaks Chalet:  www.sykescottages.co.uk 

¶ There are no other local facilities servicing tourists ς such as restaurants etc 
 

Waste disposal facility:   

¶ This services the region. 
 

Electric power plants: 

¶ tƻǿŜǊ ǎǘŀǘƛƻƴΥ  ¢Ƙƛǎ ǿŀǎ ǎƛǘŜ ф ƛƴ wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǎǳǊǾŜȅΦ  Lǘ ƳƛƎƘǘ ƴƻǿ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ŘŜ-commissioned ς ie made 
redundant after the hydro plant was commissioned in Garvan .  

¶ Garvan Hydro Scheme:  This 1884 Kw system was commissioned in 2011.  wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ŀǊŎƘŀŜƻƭƻƎƛŎŀƭ ǎǳǊǾŜȅ 
was undertaken in 2008 in anticipation of the construction of this scheme. 

 

http://www.scotlandlogcabin.co.uk/the-old-school-chalets.htm
http://www.sykescottages.co.uk/
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Mussel farm 

¶ Five double-headed lines with 7 to 10 m droppers ς changing to 6 m droppers in future (Loch Eil Sanitary Survey 
Report in 2012 by CEFAS, page 5) ς Appendix H 

¶ Seabed lease on the Duisky shoreline (Loch Eil Sanitary Survey Report in 2012 by CEFAS, page 6) ς Appendix H. 

¶ This was operating in xxxxx (Sewerage study)  
 
Jetty 

¶ Anchorage and moorings just east of the mouth of the burn ς An Dubh Uisge - Clyde Cruising Club 2007 (Loch Eil 
Sanitary Survey Report, 2012, p8) 

 
Fences:  field, sheepfold & wall 

¶ Enclosed field 

 wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǎƛǘŜ ф - NN 0124 7676: 

 ά! ŦƛŜƭŘ ƛǎ ǎƛǘǳŀǘŜŘ ƻƴ ƭŜǾŜƭ ƎǊƻǳƴŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ Ŝŀǎǘ ǎƛŘŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ƴ 5ǳōƘ ¦ƛǎƎŜΣ ŀǎǎƻŎƛŀǘŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀǊƳǎǘŜŀŘΣ 
{ƛǘŜ уΦ  Lǘ ƛǎ ŜƴŎƭƻǎŜŘ ōȅ ŀ ƭƻǿ ǎǘƻƴŜ ǿŀƭƭΣ лΦулƳ ǿƛŘŜ ŀƴŘ лΦслƳ ƘƛƎƘΦ wŜŦǎΥ h{ мǎǘ 9ŘΦ сέ aŀǇ {ƘŜet XI, 
мутрέ (Robertson, p9).    

 The Highland Council also records this ς as HER Historic Environment Record MHG5268, grid NN 01216 
тстссΣ ƳŀǇ ǎƘŜŜǘ bbлтb²Σ ŎƻƴǎǘǊǳŎǘŜŘ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ муоо !5 ǘƻ мутр !5Φ  άFull description: A field 
situated on level ground on the east side of the An Dubh Uisge, associated with the farmstead to the 
east. (Robertson Site 8). It is enclosed by a low stone wall, 0.80m wide and 0.60m high.  A power house 
is to be built within the SW corner of this enclosed field and the west wall is at risk from the construction 
of the pipeline. The walls should be preserved as a feature in the landscape.  A breach in the west wall is 
to be made at NN 01185 76688 for a track which will cross the field from the Duisƪȅ ǘǊŀŎƪΦέ   

 A power station is now located on this site. 

 Comment:  Donald might have built this. 

 
¶ Sheepfold 

 wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǎƛǘŜ мл - NN 0131 7640, OS 1st Ed. 6 inches Map Sheet XI, 1875 

 ά! ǎƘŜŜǇŦƻƭŘΣ нфƳ b-S by 25m, is situated on the east side of a tributary of the An Dubh Usige river.  It 
is divided into five compartments and consists of well-built and well-preserved walls with a pronounced 
batter, tapering from a width of 0.70m at the base to 0.50m at the top.  There is no obvious reuse of 
earlier structures within its composition.  A sheep dip leads from the South wall to a level platform. The 
sheepfold may date to the mid to late 19th century; it is approached by a track from the farmstead, Site 
8έ (Robertson p9).  

¶ Wall  

 wƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴΩǎ ǎƛǘŜ мм - NM 9937 7502: 

 άA wall is depicted running across a shallow loop of the An Dubh Uisge river.  The wall, currently under 
dense forest, was not visited in the field. Refs: OS 1st Ed. 6 inches Map Sheet XI, 1875έ όwƻōŜǊǘǎƻƴ ǇфύΦ 

¶ John MitchellΩs fence 

 In 1853, Mr Mitchell proposed erecting a wire fence to prevent straying sheep (Ardgour papers p58) 

 It is not known whether or not this fence was eventually built.  It is interesting that it was to be a wire 
fence rather than stone or hedge. 

¶ Comments 
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 Donald might have built or repaired, or at least used, the field, sheepfold and wall ς for managing his 
sheep or black cattle. 

 The stone wall is some distance up the glen, a distance from the other fences.   
 
Cairn 

¶ There is a cairn on the shores of the loch which is from pre-historic times ς the Neolithic period between 4000 
BC to 2401 BC.  [research:  Was this Viking times ς or well before this?]  

¶ It is recorded by the Highland Council. HER, Historic Environment Record MHG296, NMRS NUMLINK 23593 
& NN07NW1, Old SMR NN07NW0001, Cranmore 23593, grid NN 0130 7710, map sheet NN07NW 

¶ άFull description. This cairn, standing on a slight rise 400m N of Duisky on the S side of Loch Eil, has been 
considerably disturbed both by trees and by treasure-seekers; it measures 8.5m in diameter and stands to a 
height of 1m.  It has been badly damaged by tree root action and by treasure hunters. Dated late Neolithic - 
early bronze age cairnέ (HER & RCAHMS, 1980, The Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical 
Monuments of Scotland - Argyll: an inventory of the monuments volume 3: Mull, Tiree, Coll and Northern 
Argyll, 56, # 30, Text/Report, SHG2660). (canmore database) 

¶ John Mathews advised that, on a visit, he had found άa small pile of granite stones about 20-30 cm in 
dimensionsέ ōŜǘǿŜŜƴ 5ǳƛǎƪȅ ŀƴŘ .ƭŀƛŎƘ (Mathews email 1st Nov 2016)  

¶  It is mentioned by Robertson (p3) but was not detailed as one of the sites in her survey.  

¶ Comment:  This has no relevance to Donald except that perhaps the children played around it, quite unaware 
of its antiquity.  

 
Comment about all the structures in Duisky 

¶ We are left without much to see in all of this.  We want to be able to find some tangible indicator of structures 
which Donald built and around which Donald and his family lived.   The best we have is several groups of stones 
but not firm evidence of where they actually lived.  

¶ Possibilities of the McLean home and/or the dwelling house Donald built:- 

 Farmstead:  Described by Robertson ς still standing (unroofed) in 2008 ς abandoned relatively recently. 

 Dwelling house:  Identified by Neil McLean - standing in 1853. 

 Farm building and huge barn:  In 1975, άbƻ ǘǊŀŎŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ψ5ǳƛǎƪȅΩ ƘƻƳŜ ǊŜƳŀƛƴǎΦ  ! ƭŀǘŜǊ ƘƻƳŜ ƛǎ ǳǎŜŘ ŀǎ 
a cow sheŘέ ό.w. ǇрύΦ   άThe old house at Duisky is no more, and even a later one which Donald may 
ƘŀǾŜ ƻŎŎǳǇƛŜŘ ƛǎ ƴƻǿ ǳǎŜŘ ŀǎ ŀ ŦŀǊƳ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ ƘǳƎŜ ǎǘƻƴŜ ōŀǊƴέ (BRB p8). 

 Glenview 

 Suileag View 
 

 
Source : RCAHMS PastMap ς 2017 Ordnance Survey 100057073 

http://canmore/
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..ooOOoo.. 

 

Today 
 

¶ The environment:  Visitors today will see the ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ŜƴǾƛǊƻƴƳŜƴǘ ǇǊŜǘǘȅ ƳǳŎƘ ŀǎ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƛƴ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ŘŀȅΦ  ¢ƘŜ 
farmlands and lochside are unchanged.   

¶ Structures:  There are few signs of buildings in Blaich and Duisky which would have been familiar to Donald and 
his family.  This is not surprising because the McLeans never had any substantial structures like grand houses 
around Blaich and Duisky.  Donald would recognize the remnants of the Blaich kirk, and also Black Croft and 
Blaich Cottage.  Glenview has been upgraded.  The Duisky school was built after they left.  There are new buildings 
such Blaich Mhoir house.  There are new developments such as the hypo power scheme, the waste disposal site 
and the mussel farm.  

¶ Instead of a rutted track, there is now a narrow bitumen road running along next to Loch Eil.  

¶ The latest census has xxx people living in Duisky and Blaich.  

¶ A tour guide is available for descendants who are fortunate enough to visit the ŀǊŜŀ ΨTour of Fort William, 
Ardgour, Blaich & DuiskyΩ 

 
..ooOOoo.. 
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Appendix B 
Tenants of Duisky 

 - from papers of Alexander, 13th Laird of Ardgour 
 ς from a collection of Robin MacLean, 18th Laird of Ardgour, NRAS3583 

 
A. άAgreement between John McLachlan and Donald Cameron, tenants of Duisky, 7 May 1835.   

Minute of let by Alexander McLean of Ardgour to John McLachlan and Donald Cameron of the farm of Duiskey, parish of 
Kilmallie, for 9 years from Whitsunday 1836 at £105 sterling annual rentέ (p55). 
 

B. άLetter from Donald and Angus McLachlan, tenants of Duisky, to Colonel Alexander Maclean of Ardgour, proposing erection 
of a wire fence to be repaid by the proprietor at departure between them and Mr Mitchell to prevent straying sheep, since 
they cannot find anyone to stay on the march, the place being remote, 15 March 1853έ (p58). 
 

C. άReport of James Macgregor, who visited Duisky with Neil MacLean (land surveyor), Inverness, Mr Mitchell of Inverscadle and 
Mr Duncan Boyd, as to buildings of lands on Duisky formally tenanted by Angus and Donald MacLachlan, 30 May 1853.  A 
dwelling-house is ƴƻǘŜŘ ŀǎ ƘŀǾƛƴƎ ōŜŜƴ ōǳƛƭŘ ώǎƛŎϐ ōȅ ΨDonald MacLean, now in AustraliaΩΦ  There is reference to obligation by 
Mr Mitchell as incoming tenantέ (p58) 
 

D. άDraft papers, 1853-28 April 1854, as to abandonment of current lease, with effect from Whitsunday 1853, to John Mitchell 
of Inverscadle, and new lease for 19 years of Inverscadle, Dalindrein, Stronchregan, Croft No1 Trislaig and farm of Duisky, 
lately possessed by Angus and Donald MacLachlanέ (p58). 

 
5ƻƴΩǎ ƴƻǘŜǎ Υ  

¶ A dwelling-house had been built by Donald MacLean ςperhaps many years before he left the area in 1837.   

¶ John McLachlan and Donald Cameron took up the lease in May 1835. 

¶ Donald McLean migrated to Australia in August 1837 ς but he would have left Duisky well before this while making his final 
arrangements. 

¶ Angus and Donald McLachlan were leasing Duisky up to 1853. 

¶ John Mitchell took over Duiksy in 1853.   

¶ Apart from Duisky, Mitchell also had 4 other leases ς amounting to substantial holdings.   It is not clear whether or not the 
McLachlans had held all these same properties. 

¶ John Mitchell took up the lease in 1853 which is 18 years after John McLachlan and Donald Cameron commenced in 1835.  At 
some stage during this period, Angus and Donald McLachlan had taken over from John McLachlan and Donald Cameron.  It is 
not clear what was the relationship between these four men.  

¶ In item B, march might be a feature of the terrain ς eg a glen or a hill ς or it might mean a border 

¶ In item C, build should be built 

¶ In item C, the original had the apostrophes around Donald Maclean, now in Australia. 

¶ In item D, abandonment is probably not implying that no one is interested in the land, but rather that the lease had ceased 
and the previous tenants had vacated the property.  Or maybe the McLachlans had in fact ceased using the property some 
time before their lease was due to expire. 

¶ In item D, Whitsunday occurs in late May or early June each year.  Maybe this was the usual date for leases to change hands. 

¶ In Item D, 19 years is the usual length of such leases.   

¶ Teinds = property assessed for tithes ς ie one tenth to be paid to the church 
 
Conclusions : 

These papers confirm that Donald McLean was at Duisky and that he built a dwelling house which was still standing after much 
ƳƻǊŜ ǘƘŀƴ нл ȅŜŀǊǎΦ  Lǘ ƛǎ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ǘƘƻǳƎƘǘ ǊŜƭŜǾŀƴǘ ǘƻ ǎǘƛƭƭ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘ 5ƻƴŀƭŘΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ǘƻ ǘƘƛǎ ƘƻǳǎŜ ǎƻ ƭƻƴƎ ŀŦǘŜr he had 
built itς especially as he had left the area much earlier.     
As yet, there is no direct confirmation that he actually leased Duisky.  If he did in fact lease the property it must have been some 
period between 1800 and 1837 - from when he was 21 years old say, to when he migrated. Coincidently this could have been 2 
lots of 19 years.  The papers do not indicate who was leasing it before 1800.   It was leased to John McLachlan and Donald Cameron 
21 (or 2?) months before Donald left for Australia ς so it is possible that Donald was leasing the property but relinquished the 
lease in the lead-up to migrating to Australia.  Or maybe he was on the property, in some other capacity, at the same time as John 
McLachlan and Donald Cameron.  
Alexander MacLean, 13th Laird McLean of Ardgour, owned Duisky in this period.  So it seems that the line of Blaich lairds ceased 
some time after William became Blaich Laird in 1758.  
In 1751, and probably sometime before, Hugh McLean of Ardgour owned Blaich and Duisky as well has many other neighbouring 
areas, including salmon fisheries.  (ref:  Ǉ нф ƻŦ Ψ5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊȅ ƻŦ [ŀƴŘ hǿƴŜǊǎƘƛǇ ƛƴ {ŎƻǘƭŀƴŘΩ ŜŘƛǘŜŘ ōȅ [ƻǊŜǘǘŀ w ¢ƛƳǇŜǊƭŜȅ ς Scottish 
Record Society, new series 5, produced in 1976).    
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Appendix D 
 

Duisky & Blaich in 1858 ς map by T Strahan - NRS - RHP---00747-00003-00001 
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Appendix E 
 

Duisky in 1858 ς map by T Strahan - NRS - RHP---00747-00003-00001 
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Appendix F 
 

Blaich in 1858 ς map by T Strachan - NRS - RHP---00747-00003-00001 
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Appendix H 
 
 

 

 
Source:  Loch Eil Sanitary Survey Report in 2012 by CEFAS, page 21 
 
 
 
 

 
Source:  Loch Eil Sanitary Survey Report in 2012 by CEFAS, page 6 
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Appendix J 
 

Duisky now 
 

 

 
 


